**RECEIVED**

**Jun 27 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge

---

MAURICE ROBERTS,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000652

---

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

---

JOANNA K. DELANY  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether the PCR court erred where it denied post-conviction relief where counsel did not object to a jury instruction that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder, since attempted murder required proof of a specific intent to kill, and since Petitioner was prejudiced by the improper instruction?

## STATEMENT

On February 13, 2013, a Richland County Grand Jury indicted Maurice Roberts, Petitioner, for murder, first-degree burglary, two counts of attempted murder, and attempted armed robbery. App. 1058 – 1067. Petitioner was tried before the Honorable Doyet Early, III, and a jury, from February 24 – 28, 2014. Petitioner was represented by Tivis Sutherland. Luck Campbell, Nicole Simpson, and Meghan Walker represented the State. App. 1. Petitioner was convicted as indicted. App. 920, l. 6 – 922, l. 18. He was sentenced to serve concurrent terms of imprisonment of forty-five years for murder, forty-five years for first-degree burglary, thirty years for each count of attempted murder, and twenty years for attempted armed robbery. App. 1068 – 1072; App. 937, ll. 6-18.

After he exhausted his direct appeal remedies, on July 26, 2017, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 939 – 944. On May 14, 2018, the State made its return, partial motion to dismiss, and motion for a more definite statement. App. 945 – 960. On March 24, 2022, Petitioner amended his application. App. 961. On March 28, 2022, a hearing was held on the matter before the Honorable Grace G. Knie. Jonathan Waller represented Petitioner. David Spencer represented the State. App. 962. On May 5, 2022, the PCR court issued an order of dismissal. App. 1043 – 1057. On May 12, 2022, Petitioner served notice of intent to appeal.

Petitioner sought a writ of certiorari on two issues, and the State made its return. On March 30, 2023, the Supreme Court transferred the case to this Court pursuant to Rule 243(I), SCACR. On February 27, 2024, this Court granted the petition for writ of certiorari as to Question 2 and denied it as to Question 1. This brief of petitioner follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue raised on appeal. *Smalls v. State*, 422 S.C. 174, 180-181, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018). The reviewing court must defer to a PCR court’s findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. *Id.* (citing *Sellner v. State*, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016)). However, the appellate court reviews questions of law de novo, with no deference to the PCR court. *Id.*

## ARGUMENT

**The PCR court erred where it denied post-conviction relief where counsel did not object to a jury instruction that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder, since attempted murder required proof of a specific intent to kill, and since Petitioner was prejudiced by the improper instruction.**

Counsel provided deficient representation when he failed to argue that the attempted murder statute required a specific intent to kill. Defense counsel did not object to the jury being instructed that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder and that only general intent need be shown. Counsel's performance was deficient since attempted murder required specific intent to kill.

### *Relevant facts*

Petitioner stood accused of participating in a botched burglary with three other men: Demetrice James, Deshawn McClary, and Vincent Nelson. The case involved the death of Brandon Jones (Decedent), and the wounding of Trenton Scott and Joshua Williams. App. 1058 – 1067; App. 202, l. 16 – 205, l. 2.

The State alleged that at approximately 10:00 p.m. on January 25, 2013, Trenton Scott and Troy Scott were in their parents' basement with friends Joshua Williams and Decedent. The Scotts had music recording equipment in the basement and Decedent was recording music that night. Vincent Nelson, a friend of the family known as "J School," came over unexpectedly and was let in by the Scotts' stepfather. App. 232, l. 21 – 234, l. 7; App. 330, ll. 10-24. Joshua Williams and the Scott brothers thought Vincent Nelson's behavior was "odd." Nelson was on the phone a lot, which was strange because Nelson did not own a phone. Nelson also paced and repeatedly asked Decedent to come outside and smoke a cigarette. Eventually, Decedent went

outside with Nelson and Williams to smoke. App. 331, l. 2 – 332, l. 1; App. 233, l. 16 – 238, l. 5; App. 442, l. 11 – 447, l. 19.

While they were outside, three strangers walked by several times before coming up to them. One of the strangers had a gun. According to Joshua Williams, the gunman pistol-whipped him and demanded keys from Decedent and from Vincent Nelson. According to Williams, Vincent Nelson said the keys were in the house. Combat broke out inside and outside the house. Williams claimed the gunman went into the house and the two remaining suspects beat him. Williams alleged he heard Decedent begging not to be shot. Williams did not identify any of the suspects. Williams was shot in the side during the melee. He stated he heard shots and felt himself get hit by one. App. 232, l. 21 – 244, l. 19.

Decedent was shot five times, with fatal wounds to his lungs and liver. App. 636, l. 9 – 641, l. 23. The wounds could have been inflicted by someone standing over him, according to a forensic pathologist. App. 644, ll. 11-14.

The State alleged Demetrice James shot Trenton Scott. According to Trenton Scott, a gunman ran into his basement, pointed the gun at him, and pistol-whipped him. Trenton Scott alleged he punched the gunman, and the gunman dropped the gun. Trenton Scott and the gunman scuffled for the gun before a second suspect came inside and grabbed the gun. Two suspects tried to get further inside the house, and Trenton Scott tried to barricade the door. The three men struggled, and the second suspect fired a shot through the open door, hitting Trenton Scott in the arm. Trenton Scott ran upstairs and heard five more shots. App. 332, l. 12 – 342, l. 25; App. 452, ll. 10-13. Trenton Scott identified Petitioner as the person who pistol-whipped him after chasing Decedent in at gunpoint. Trenton Scott identified Demetrice James as the man who picked up the gun during the scuffle and shot him (Trenton) through the doorway. App. 347, l. 1 – 353, l. 15.

Trenton Scott's brother Troy Scott also identified Petitioner as the person he saw scuffling with Trenton. Troy Scott also identified Demetrice James as the person he saw with a gun. App. 459, l. 1 – 461, l. 21.

Petitioner's codefendants (Demetrice James, Deshawn McClary, and Vincent Nelson) testified against him at trial. Codefendant Demetrice James claimed he, Petitioner, and Deshawn McClary went to meet up with Vincent Nelson. Demetrice James claimed Petitioner ran towards the men who were outside the Scott's house (Nelson, Decedent, and Joshua Williams) and he claimed Petitioner got in a fight. According to James, he went to help Petitioner and they were pulled into the house. James alleged Petitioner brandished a gun which went off twice during the scuffle. James claimed he ran outside and when he looked back, he saw Petitioner standing over Decedent, and he saw Petitioner shoot Decedent while Decedent was on the ground. App. 487, l. 21 – 496, l. 8. Finally, James claimed Petitioner threatened his father while the two were inexplicably being transported to the courthouse together. App. 506, ll. 8-23. According to James, he had no intent to commit any crimes and was simply in the wrong place at the wrong time. James had a juvenile adjudication for carrying a weapon on school grounds, and like Petitioner he faced the pending charges in this case. James also faced pending charges in additional cases of kidnapping, armed robbery, first-degree criminal sexual conduct, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and possession with intent to distribute marijuana in proximity of a school. App. 508, l. 14 – 510, l. 24. James did not have a plea offer and admitted he hoped his testimony would "help him out down the road." App. 503, l. 8 – 505, l. 19.

Codefendant Vincent Nelson had just pleaded guilty to a reduced charge of voluntary manslaughter, as well as first-degree burglary, attempted armed robbery, and two counts of attempted murder for his conduct in this case. His sentencing was deferred and contingent upon

“truthful” testimony at Petitioner’s trial. App. 515, l. 2 – 516, l. 22. Nelson was a reticent witness who consulted his attorney during his testimony and did not answer a number of questions posed to him by the solicitor. *See* App. 524, l. 3 – 527, l. 25. Nelson had told police that he took part in the attempted studio robbery, and he claimed Petitioner lent him a phone for his role. App. 528, l. 8 – 530, l. 14. Nelson claimed that after contact with Petitioner by phone, he went outside the Scotts’ house with Joshua Williams and Decedent. According to Nelson, Petitioner came up to them with a .45 caliber gun and hit Decedent. Nelson alleged Petitioner and Demetrice James attempted to get into the house, but Nelson ran away. Nelson claimed he heard shots and heard either McClary or James yell, “Get that [expletive].” Nelson also claimed he later saw Petitioner put bleach on his clothes, and he claimed Petitioner told him not to “talk to anybody” about what happened. App. 534, l. 4 – 554, l. 7.

Codefendant Deshawn McClary, whose charges were still pending, testified he was part of a burglary plan with Petitioner, Demetrice James, and Vincent Nelson. McClary claimed that he was the lookout, that Petitioner had a gun, and that after Petitioner and James ran back out of the house, he saw Petitioner standing over Decedent shooting him. App. 668, l. 5 – 677, l. 24. McClary had a strong-arm robbery conviction and pending charges for these offenses. McClary also faced unrelated charges of armed robbery, kidnapping, and third-degree criminal sexual conduct. App. 685, l. 9 – 687, l. 24.

Petitioner was interrogated by police and initially denied involvement. However, the State claimed Petitioner eventually confessed to being part of a “lick” at the “studio.” According to Officer McDonald, Petitioner said he was part of the burglary but denied having a gun.

McDonald alleged Petitioner claimed an unidentified man called “600”<sup>1</sup> was the gunman. McDonald also claimed Petitioner said his clothing was stained with bleach while cleaning dishes. App. 738, l. 21 – 744, l. 13. Petitioner’s alleged confession was not video or audio recorded despite the availability of that technology in 2013. App. 760, l. 18 – 762, l. 1.

Officer McDonald observed that Petitioner had a black eye. App. 745, ll. 8-17. McDonald also read into the record text messages between Petitioner’s phone (allegedly possessed by Vincent Nelson at the time of the events) and Deshawn McClary’s phone which included, “Come on. I got two outside.” And, “On the way,” in response. App. 751, l. 4 – 752, l. 15. Although the court found Petitioner’s confession was admissible, Officer McDonald admitted that when explaining Petitioner’s *Miranda*<sup>2</sup> rights to him and the meaning of the word coercion, he told Petitioner, “I’m not putting a gun to your head to make you talk today.” App. 760, ll. 8-17.

Other evidence introduced at trial included the testimony of Jwuan Duckett, who claimed he heard Petitioner and Vincent Nelson discussing plans to burglarize a home to obtain studio equipment. App. 408, l. 8 – 409, l. 25. Duckett also claimed Petitioner asked him to pull up a local news website the day after the incident. App. 426, l. 18 – 427, l. 17. However, Duckett had prior convictions and/or adjudications for possession with intent to distribute cocaine, resisting arrest, receiving stolen goods, second-degree burglary, petit larceny, and purse snatching. App. 427, l. 20 – 428, l. 18. Authorities found clothing with bleach on it behind Petitioner’s apartment

---

<sup>1</sup> References to “600” came up a number of times during the trial. For example, Joshua Williams said he heard someone yell, “600 don’t do it” just before shots were fired, and Jwuan Duckett told police that he, Petitioner, James, McClary, and Nelson were part of a rap group called “600.” App. 243, ll. 16-19; App. 403, ll. 6-14; App. 432, l. 22 – 433, l. 20.

<sup>2</sup> *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

complex. App. 744, ll. 14-18; App. 435, l. 17 – 438, l. 17. Shell casings of .45 caliber were found at the crime scene. App. 569, l. 5 – 571, l. 7.

In opening statements, the State argued Petitioner was guilty of murder because he was the person who shot and killed Decedent. It argued he was guilty of the two counts of attempted murder under the theory that the hand of one is hand of all. Tr. 215, ll. 6-9. When the State rested, the defense did not put up a case. App. 811, l. 23 – 818, l. 6. During the charge conference, the solicitor asked the jury be charged that specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder. Defense counsel had no objection. App. 914 – 916, l. 20; App. 831, ll. 2-23. However, when the judge charged the jury, he forgot about this requested instruction. After the jury had been charged and exited the courtroom, the solicitor repeated her request for a jury charge that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder. Defense counsel again did not object. App. 914, l. 9 – 918, l. 25.

The court brought the jury back in to charge this incorrect point of law. The judge therefore not only charged the wrong thing, he charged the wrong thing in a manner that emphasized it. Moreover, the court twice repeated part of the incorrect instruction that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder. It instructed the jury,

**Dealing with the offense of attempted murder, a specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder, but there must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury. A specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder, but there must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury.**

Intent means intending the result which actually occurs and not accidentally on [sic] involuntarily. Intent may be shown by acts and conduct of the defendant and other circumstances from which you may naturally and reasonably infer intent.

Intent may also be inferred when it is demonstrated that the defendant voluntarily and willfully commits an act, the natural

tendency of which is to destroy another's life. So that's an element of attempted murder I've left out of the charge.

App. 917, ll. 9-24 (emphasis added). The solicitor incorrectly argued in closing that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder. App. 845, l. 15 – 846, l. 846, l. 2. The jury deliberated for about an hour and a half before it convicted Petitioner as indicted. App. 920, l. 6 – 922, l. 18.

At the PCR hearing, trial counsel testified that he did not object to the erroneous jury instruction because he (incorrectly) thought attempted murder had the same elements as the already-repealed offense of assault and battery with intent to kill (ABIK or ABWIK). App. 1001, l. 21 – 1002, l. 7. “[W]hat was your understanding of attempted murder at the time[?]” App. 1001, ll. 22-25. “At the time I will say it must have been it was just ABIK. You know, the old ABIK . . .” App. 1002, ll. 5-7.

The PCR court's order of dismissal addressed Petitioner's claim that counsel's performance was deficient when he failed to object to a jury instruction that only a general intent was required for attempted murder. 1054 – 1056. The order noted that the trial occurred in 2014, which was prior to either this Court's 2015 decision in *State v. King*, 412 S.C. 403, 772 S.E.2d 189 (Ct. App. 2015) or the Supreme Court's 2017 decision in *State v. King*, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017), decisions that concluded specific intent to kill was an element of attempted murder. App. 1054. The order noted that counsel was not required to be “clairvoyant” or to “foresee successful appellate challenges to novel questions of law.” App. 1055. The order cited to Justice Kittredge's concurrence in *King* as proof that “counsel's failure to object to the general intent language does not fall below professional norms.”<sup>3</sup> App. 1055 – 1056. The order of

---

<sup>3</sup> Justice Kittredge concurred in result in *King*, and concluded that the attempted murder statute “represents the codification of the common law offense of ABWIK,” and “that a specific intent

dismissal also concluded that Petitioner was not prejudiced “in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.” App. 1056.

### *Deficiency*

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 was enacted in 2010, and it provides in relevant part that, “A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” The statute contained the words “with intent to kill.” At the time of Petitioner’s trial, specific intent to kill was an element of attempted murder. *King*, 422 S.C. at 63-64, 810 S.E.2d at 26-27, later confirmed this. However, *King* did not change the law. The statute’s 2010 enactment changed the law. *King* merely clarified what the statute mandated.

“Attempted murder was codified as part of the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing Reform Act of 2010, which abolished several common law assault and battery offenses including assault and battery with intent to kill, also known as ABWIK. *See* Act No. 273, 2010 S.C. Acts 1947-49.” *State v. Taylor*, 434 S.C. 365, 369, 862 S.E.2d 924, 927 (Ct. App. 2021). “It replaced these with new, codified offenses including the crime of attempted murder.” *Id.* “[A] specific intent to kill is an element of attempted murder.” *State v. King*, 422 S.C. at 56, 810 S.E.2d at 22. “[T]he General Assembly created the offense of attempted murder by purposefully adding the language ‘with intent to kill’ to ‘malice aforethought, either expressed or implied’ to require a higher level of *mens rea* for attempted murder than that of murder.” *Id.*, 422 S.C. at 61, 810 S.E.2d at 25. That an attempt crime requires “a higher level of *mens rea* than that of the completed crime, [] is the majority rule and a rule that our appellate courts and General Assembly have followed.” *Id.*, at 56, 810 S.E.2d at 22.

---

to kill is not an element of the offense of attempted murder[.]” *King*, 422 S.C. at 73, 810 S.E.2d at 32 (Kittredge, J., concurring in result).

The South Carolina Supreme Court had already explained that the offense of attempted murder was a specific intent crime at common law. *State v. Sutton*, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000), was published fourteen years before Petitioner's trial. Sutton was tried for both attempted murder and ABWIK. The Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether attempted murder was an offense in this state, and found it was not. However, the Supreme Court explained that if the offense of attempted murder was recognized, it would require a specific intent to kill. "Attempted murder would require the specific intent to kill and conduct towards that end." *Id.* at 397, 532 S.E.2d at 285. In contrast, ABWIK had only been held to be a general intent crime. *State v. Foust*, 325 S.C. 12, 16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 52 (1996). As the Supreme Court explained in *King*, the appellate decisions of this state, when read as a whole, reflected that specific intent was an element of attempted murder. *King*, 422 S.C. at 57, 810 S.E.2d at 23. That was true at the time of Petitioner's trial.

The PCR court incorrectly applied the rule that counsel is not required to be clairvoyant and anticipate changes in the law. App. 1055. Counsel was not required to be clairvoyant—counsel was required to read English. This was black letter law. The element was listed in the statute and there was caselaw holding that attempted murder required specific intent to kill. *King* was not a change in the law. *King* merely confirmed that attempted murder required proof of specific intent to kill. *King*, 422 S.C. at 56, 810 S.E.2d at 22. In its return to petition for certiorari, the State argued that a reasonable attorney could have concluded attempted murder was a general intent crime. However, this position wrongly assumes that such a reasonable attorney would not know published law. It also wrongly assumes an attorney can permissibly advocate against his client. An attorney has a duty to advocate for his client. Assuming *arguendo* that both interpretations of the statute were reasonable: attempted murder was a specific intent

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