RECEIVED

Dec 12 2024

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Common Pleas
Appeal from Richland County
Honorable Grace Gilchrist Knie, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-000652

MAURICE ROBERTS,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

The PCR judge correctly found defense counsel was not constitutionally ineffective for failing to object to a jury instruction on the requisite intent for statutory attempted murder that was only later declared to be incorrect because: (1) at the time of Roberts’s trial, the issue of the intent required to prove that newly-created statutory offense had not yet been addressed by any South Carolina appellate courts and remained an unsettled question upon which reasonable minds could disagree; and (2) the issue was only addressed and settled through later appellate decisions—including a divided one from our Supreme Court—that were issued *after* Roberts’s trial had already concluded.

Relevant Facts

On the night of January 25, 2013, two brothers, Troy Scott and Trenton Scott, were hanging out in the lower level of their two-story residence with a group of friends that included Joshua Williams and Brandon Jones.⁷ (App’x pp. 231-233; p. 264; pp. 327-328; p. 467). Around 10:00 p.m. that night, Vincent Nelson, Jr.—who was also known as “J School”—unexpectedly arrived at the Scotts brothers’ house and came downstairs. (App’x pp. 326-327; p. 468). Previously, Troy and Trenton’s mother had permitted Nelson to live at their home for a period of time, but Nelson had not been around in a few months, which made his unannounced visit somewhat unusual. (App’x pp. 326-327; pp. 330-331; p. 517). Nevertheless, the Scott brothers and the others welcomed Nelson that night and allowed him to join the group’s socializing. (App’x pp. 326-327; pp. 532-534; p. 557). That decision unfortunately proved to be a tragic and deadly one. (App’x p. 550; p. 557; pp. 634-636; p. 681).

Unbeknownst to the Scott brothers and their friends, Nelson’s visit that night was not for the purpose of socializing or finding a place to stay. (App’x p. 529). Instead, Nelson—aware of his ability to gain access to the residence based on the Scott family’s past kindness toward him—had hatched a plan to perpetrate a robbery of the home earlier that day along with several

⁷ In addition to being a friend, Jones was also the Scott brothers’ cousin. (App’x p. 325).

conspirators, including Roberts.^{8 9} (App’x pp. 529-530; pp. 667-670). In accordance with that shocking plan, Nelson—after being allowed entry into the home—repeatedly used Roberts’s cell phone, which he had brought with him, to communicate with Roberts and the other conspirators and alert them of who all was inside. (App’x p. 236; pp. 529-530; pp. 534-535; pp. 670-671; p. 751). Nelson then proceeded to separate the group by repeatedly pestering Jones for a cigarette until Jones finally relented, and he headed outside with Jones and Williams to smoke. (App’x pp. 237-238; p. 447; p. 470; pp. 535-536). Once outside, Nelson then resumed his communications with his conspirators, alerted them he had two of the friend group with him, and encouraged them to come on. (App’x p. 671; p. 752). Ominously, one of the conspirators responded: “On the way.” (App’x p. 752).

Shortly after that, Williams noticed three men walking back and forth nearby. (App’x pp. 239-240). Shortly after that, one of the men charged at Jones, Williams, and Nelson as they continued smoking outside the residence, and that man quickly pulled out a gun and struck both Jones and Williams with it, knocking them to the ground. (App’x pp. 239-240; p. 246; pp. 489-490; pp. 538-540; pp. 672-673). The gunman then demanded car keys from Jones before rushing into the Scott brothers’ residence with one of his accomplices. (App’x pp. 240-242; pp. 541-542; pp. 674-675).

After getting inside, the gunman—Roberts—quickly encountered Trenton and pointed a gun at his head. (App’x pp. 332-333; pp. 349-351; p. 672). As he did with the others, Roberts

⁸ Inside the lower level of the residence, the Scott brothers had a recording studio set up, and it contained an “expensive” microphone along with other equipment used to record music. (App’x p. 250; p. 324; p. 518). A desire to steal that equipment was the motive for the senseless and horrible crimes that followed. (App’x p. 412; pp. 521-522; p. 529; pp. 668-669; p. 679).

⁹ According to even Roberts himself, the illicit scheme was hatched at Roberts’s apartment. (App’x pp. 408-409; pp. 521-524; p. 529; pp. 667-669; pp. 740-741).

then approached Trenton and struck him with the gun, knocking him to the floor. (App’x p. 334). Following that, Trenton, who was trained in karate, promptly got back up and hit Roberts in the face, which caused Roberts to crash into a glass table, break it, and drop his gun in the process. (App’x p. 334; p. 351). Trenton and Roberts then began scuffling with one another in an effort to gain control of the now-loose gun. (App’x p. 334; p. 490). Seeing the scuffle, the other would-be robber who had entered the residence—Demetrice James—quickly joined the fray, and he was able to get control of the gun. (App’x p. 335; pp. 492-493). Trenton then began fighting with James, and Troy, who had not been in the room when the burglars first entered, joined in, too, when he responded to the sound of the glass breaking and saw what was happening. (App’x pp. 335-336; pp. 447-449).

As the struggle continued, Roberts attempted to get farther into the Scotts’ home, but Trenton chased after him and knocked him to the ground. (App’x p. 336; pp. 450-451). In response to that, James—who was still armed with Roberts’s gun at that point—threatened to shoot him, so Trenton grabbed Roberts and held him up to shield himself from being shot. (App’x pp. 336-337; pp. 450-451). Trenton then flung Roberts toward James as a distraction and, along with his brother, attempted to barricade himself behind an inner door inside the residence. (App’x pp. 337-338). However, James quickly began pushing back on that door, and another struggle ensued. (App’x pp. 337-338). During it, Trenton decided they needed to do something to get James and Roberts out of the residence to avoid being shot, so he opened the door and charged at them in an effort to force them back outside. (App’x pp. 339-340). During the ensuing conflict, James fired a shot that struck Trenton in the arm.¹⁰ (App’x pp. 340-341; p.

¹⁰ Later on, James denied being the one that shot Trenton. (App’x p. 511).

348; p. 452; p. 675). James and Roberts then fled out the home's back door as Trenton remained behind bleeding from his gunshot wound. (App'x pp. 341-342; p. 676).

Once back outside, Roberts—who had reobtained his gun by that point—stood over one of the victims he had earlier knocked to the ground and fired a shot at him. (App'x p. 496; pp. 676-677). As his co-conspirators—including Nelson—hastily fled from the scene, Roberts then fired another volley of gunshots before fleeing himself. (App'x p. 243; p. 496; p. 543; pp. 676-677; p. 681).

After the perpetrators absconded, the incident was quickly reported, and officers from the Richland County Sheriff's Office rapidly responded to the scene along with emergency medical personnel. (App'x pp. 223-226; p. 255; pp. 258-261; pp. 354-357; pp. 377-390; p. 689; p. 691; p. 764; p. 767). Based on their injuries, Trenton, who had been shot inside the residence, along with Williams and Jones, who were both shot outside the residence, were rushed to the hospital for treatment. (App'x pp. 243-244; p. 384; pp. 388-390). Fortunately, Trenton's and Williams's gunshot injuries were not fatal, and both were able to be successfully treated. (App'x p. 245; p. 343). Sadly though, Jones had been shot five times, including twice in the back, and he quickly succumbed to his injuries and died. (App'x p. 262; pp. 632-644).

During the rapidly-ensuing investigation into the incident, Nelson was swiftly identified as a suspect since Troy, Trenton, and the rest of their group were already familiar with him. (App'x pp. 691-693; p. 726; pp. 765-766; pp. 768-769). Two days later, officers was able to track Nelson down at Roberts's apartment, and he was taken into custody there. (App'x p. 728; pp. 773-774; pp. 776-778; pp. 801-803). Following that, Nelson, Roberts, and an individual named Juwan Duckett were all brought to the Richland County Sheriff's Office's headquarters

for questioning.^{11 12} (App’x pp. 732-733; p. 739; p. 777; p. 779; pp. 803-804). During that questioning, Roberts—who had a black eye at the time—initially denied any involvement in or knowledge about the incident. (App’x pp. 512-513; p. 738; p. 745; p. 808). However, upon being confronted with incriminating admissions made by both Nelson and Duckett, Roberts pivoted his account, admitted he was present at the scene on the night of the incident, and acknowledged he actively participated in and helped with the botched heist. (App’x pp. 739-742; p. 806). However, despite making some admissions, Roberts tried to minimize his own responsibility to the greatest extent possible and denied ever having a gun or shooting anyone. (App’x p. 743; p. 809).

Ultimately, at the conclusion of the interview, Roberts was arrested for multiple offenses in connection to the incident, including murder. (App’x pp. 753-754; p. 780). Subsequent to that, Roberts was indicted for murder, first-degree burglary, multiple counts of attempted murder, and attempted armed robbery, and he elected to proceed forward to trial. (App’x p. 20; pp. 1058-1067).

Amongst the substantial evidence that was presented during that trial, Trenton—who had earlier identified Roberts as one of the perpetrators from a lineup—identified Roberts in the courtroom as the person who rushed into his home with a gun and attacked him on the night of the incident, and Troy—who also spotted Roberts in a lineup prior to trial—confirmed he, too, saw Roberts inside his home fighting with Trenton that night. (App’x pp. 332-333; pp. 348-351;

¹¹ Duckett was hiding in a closet with Roberts’s cell phone when officers entered in the apartment in search of Nelson. (App’x pp. 405-407; p. 730). Notably, Roberts’s cell phone was taken into custody at that time, and the incriminating text messages Nelson was exchanging with his co-conspirators were still contained on it when it was later examined. (App’x pp. 483-484; p. 733; pp. 751-752).

¹² Later on during trial, Duckett identified himself as a good friend of Roberts’s. (App’x p. 401).

p. 353; pp. 448-449; pp. 459-460). Likewise, Nelson, James, and the third of Roberts's accomplices—Deshawn McClary—all testified as part of the State's case, recounted the details of what occurred on the night of the incident, and identified Roberts as one of the key perpetrators.¹³ (App'x pp. 485-511; pp. 515-557; pp. 661-686). In addition to that, both James and McClary expressly stated they saw Roberts firing a gun outside during incident when he was near someone on the ground.¹⁴ (App'x p. 496; p. 507; p. 677; p. 684). Furthermore, Duckett, who did not participate in the incident but was present when it was planned at Roberts's apartment, recounted the details of his knowledge of how the robbery scheme was hatched, and he confirmed Roberts was one of its planners. (App'x pp. 408-412).

After all the testimony and evidence was presented, the trial judge discussed his intended jury instructions with defense counsel and the solicitor. (App'x p. 811; p. 817; pp. 822-835). During that discussion, the trial judge initially indicated he intended to instruct the jury on attempted murder by generally instructing on the meaning of attempt. (App'x pp. 830-831). However, the solicitor responded to that suggestion by pointing out the "suggested jury instructions" indicated a specific intent was not an element of attempted murder.¹⁵ (App'x p. 831). In response, defense counsel did not object to the portion of the suggested instruction

¹³ James and McClary had both been tracked down and arrested in connection to the incident within days of Roberts's and Nelson's arrests. (App'x pp. 499-500; p. 681; p. 754; p. 807).

¹⁴ Notably, as part of his testimony, James indicated Roberts threatened him shortly before he was called as a witness in an effort to get him not to testify. (App'x pp. 505-506). Similarly, Nelson testified Roberts had earlier told him they would get away with it if they did not talk to anyone. (App'x pp. 553-554).

¹⁵ In South Carolina, circuit court judges have historically been provided with a bench book containing suggested jury instructions for use during trial. *See, e.g., McKnight v. State*, 378 S.C. 33, 47, 661 S.E.2d 354, 361 (2008) ("The court continued with the general intent charge on criminal intent from the Circuit Court Bench Book."); *State v. Singleton*, 438 S.C. 629, 634, 885 S.E.2d 415, 417 (Ct. App. 2023) ("[T]he trial court declined to give the instruction after it determined the instruction was not in the South Carolina bench book.").

referenced by the solicitor regarding intent and, instead, only asked for a portion of it concerning the character of the instrument used to be excised. (App’x p. 831). At that point, the trial judge appeared to agree to use the suggested instruction identified by the solicitor and to remove the language defense counsel had asked to be eliminated. (App’x pp. 831-832).

Thereafter, the parties presented their closing arguments to the jury, and the trial judge instructed the jury on the applicable law.¹⁶ (App’x pp. 838-914). As part of those jury instructions, the trial judge discussed the elements of attempted murder and, in doing so, indicated a specific intent *was* a required component of an attempt. (App’x pp. 907-908). In addition to that, the trial judge thoroughly instructed the jury on the other principles of law applicable to Roberts’s case, including on the elements of Roberts’s other three indicted offenses. (App’x pp. 907-908).

After finishing those jury instructions, the trial judge asked counsel whether there were any objections to what had been presented, and the solicitor swiftly noted the trial judge’s attempted murder instruction as presented would require a finding of a specific intent to kill contrary to their earlier discussions. (App’x p. 914). In response to that, the trial judge—without objection from defense counsel—presented a supplemental jury instruction on attempted murder to the jury, expressly instructed a specific intent to kill *was not* an element of attempted murder, and noted a general intent to commit serious bodily injury would be sufficient to satisfy the elements of that offense. (App’x pp. 917-918).

Notably, at the time that supplemental instruction was given, the *statutory* offense of attempted murder—which was enacted through the Omnibus Crime Reduction and Sentencing

¹⁶ Consistent with the earlier discussion that had occurred, the solicitor stated during the State’s closing argument a specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder. (App’x pp. 844-845).

Reform Act of 2010 that simultaneously abolished our state’s previously-existing common law assault and battery offenses—had only existed in South Carolina for a little less than four years. See Act No. 273, 2010 S.C. Acts & Joint Resolutions (creating a number of new statutory offenses, including attempted murder, while also abolishing the common law offenses of assault and battery with intent to kill, assault with intent to kill, assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature, simple assault and battery, assault of a high and aggravated nature, aggravated assault, and simple assault); see also State v. Middleton, 407 S.C. 312, 315, 755 S.E.2d 432, 434 (2014) (“Through the passage of the Act, the legislature abolished all common law assault and battery offenses and all prior statutory assault and battery offenses. *In place of these offenses*, the Act codifies attempted murder in section 16-3-29 and four degrees of assault and battery in section 16-3-600.” (emphasis added)). And, significantly, by that point, the precise meaning of the statutory language involved had still *not* yet been addressed or interpreted by any South Carolina appellate courts in regard to what intent was necessary to prove the newly-created offense. See State v. King, 412 S.C. 403, 411, 772 S.E.2d 189, 193 (Ct. App. 2015) (holding—for the first time in 2015—“the Legislature intended to require the State to prove specific intent to commit murder as an element of attempted murder”), aff’d as modified, 422 S.C. 47, 810 S.E.2d 18 (2017).

Following the presentation of the trial judge’s supplemental jury instruction, Roberts’s case was submitted to the jury. (App’x p. 920). Just over an hour later, the jury unanimously convicted Roberts of *all* the indicted offenses, including attempted murder *and* murder. (App’x pp. 921-922). The trial judge then sentenced Roberts to concurrent thirty-year terms of imprisonment for his two attempted murder convictions, and those sentences were ordered to run concurrently to Roberts’s lengthier—and day-for-day—forty-five-year sentence for murder, his

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